# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/5/2023 8:45 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

	102060-1
Supreme Court No.	

# THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON JEFFERY ARISTOTLE PECORARO, Petitioner v. STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent PETITION FOR REVIEW Court of Appeals No. 58058-6-II Pierce County Superior Court No. 22-2-05999-6

Jeffery Aristotle Pecoraro, ProSe 11515 209<sup>th</sup> Ave Ct E Bonney Lake, WA 98391 Phone: 206-825-1882

Email: jpecoraro79@gmail.com

# **

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case raises concerns of compromised due process rights of licensees, and the general welfare of the citizens of Washington State. Aliens in governing roles, lacking experience with the American regulatory scheme, do not serve the best interests of the People. S.S.B. 5753 allows aliens to define the parameters of safe practice, on behalf of the People, and bestows the authority to regulate licensees' due process rights during adjudicative proceedings. RCW 18.130.100. As aliens are not qualified to serve on a jury, RCW 2.36.070 (2), and applying necessary inference, prudent to conclude they should not be qualified for appointment as an executive state officer as defined in RCW 42.52.010 (20).

Case evaluation, based on the state's infringement of citizens' political and due process rights, will allow this Court to avoid revisiting State ex rel. Tattersall v. Yelle, 52 Wn.2d 856, 329 P.2d 841 (1958), to debate the framers intended meaning of "any" within the state constitution: "...shall be eligible to hold any state office..." (emphasis added) Wash. Const. art. III, § 25; as "any" within a constitution, tends to mean "all" or "every". David S. Elder, "Any and All": To Use Or Not To Use?, Mich. B.J. 1070 (1991). Notably the framers did not utilize restrictive language, like "state officer" or "officer of the state", but instead language applicable to the too many to list roles of governance. *Id.* In addition, avoid the debate on unenumerated rights, Wash. Const. art. I, § 30; U.S. Const. amend. IX, and avoid defining fundamental principles of governance, Wash. Const. art. I, § 32; U.S. Const. amend. X; notwithstanding it is a deeply rooted tradition, predating statehood, to require United States citizenship to govern. Section 5 of the Organic Act of Washington Territory required United State Citizenship for any office and specifically prevented the Legislative Assembly from being able to alter the United States citizenship requirement to be eligible for any office. (emphasis added) Wash. Legis.: Territorial Government (Organic Act) § 5,

https://leg.wa.gov/History/Territorial/Pages/territory.aspx (last visited July 30, 2022). It is reasonable to conclude citizenship requirements were vital to liberty, yet the state's response to this case compromises that very liberty, and further validates the framers strong distrust in government. When determining an unenumerated right, its tradition and effect on liberty, are key factors in judicial review to determine if a right exists as in <u>Dobbs v. Jackson Women's Health Org.</u>, 142 S. Ct. 2228, 2235 (2022); <u>Yelle v. Bishop</u>, 55 Wn.2d 286, 291, 347 P.2d 1081, 1084 (1959); <u>State v. Howell</u>, 107 Wash. 167, 168, 181 P. 920, 921 (1919).

Ultimately, the state attempts to distract from these issues, claiming the issue is of protecting aliens' civil rights. This is not the case, as the issue is not of civil rights, but that of political rights and whom may govern. Sugarman v. Dougall, 413 U.S. 634, 93 S. Ct. 2842, 37 L. Ed. 2d 853 (1973). S.S.B. 5753 is a law that "...abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States..." by compromising licensees' "...due process of law....", U.S. Const. amend.

XIV § 1; antithetical to the founding principles of this nation, territory, and state.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

RAP 10.3(g) applies to finding of fact errors, and this case results from the Superior Court's conclusion of law, thus not required. See Schweib v. Crosby, 160 Wn. App. 345, 349-50, 249 P.3d 184 (2011). In addition, neither party disputes the pertinent facts of this case.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. Was it the intent of this Court, in <u>State ex rel. Tattersall</u>, to grant political rights, with authority to govern, to aliens?
- 2. Do the People have the unenumerated right, under Wash. Const. art. I, § 30 or U.S. Const. amend. IX, to only be governed by fellow citizens of the United States?

- 3. Is it a fundamental principle, and basis for a self-governing republic, that citizens alone may govern under Wash. Const. art. I, § 32?
- 4. Is it a reserved power of the People, and not of the State, to determine whom has the power and right to govern under U.S. Const. amend. X?
- 5. Does the oath of allegiance, when taken by alien appointees, conflict with federal control of administering the oath of allegiance during naturalization? 8 U.S.C. § 1448.
- 6. Does SSB 5753 assign federal political rights and privileges that are secured to a citizen to alien appointees?
- 7. By allowing alien appointees to have control of adjudicative proceedings, does it violate due process rights of the licensee? U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1.

### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. POLITICAL RIGHTS

State actions that protect citizens' political rights, when subjected to judicial review, are to "... be construed Narrowly." Nielsen v. Washington State Bar Ass'n, 90 Wn.2d 818, 825, 585 P.2d 1191, 1195 (1978). Whereas in this case, the state encroaches the People's political rights. Arguably, when applying Nielsen, judicial review requires strict scrutiny. Id. S.S.B. 5753 is not a solution, instead creates problems by radically changing the manner of governance and disenfranchising citizens' political rights. " The critical attribute which distinguishes the citizen from the alien is that the citizen possesses Political rights: a citizen in a democratic society is one who enjoys, among his *privileges and immunities*, the right to participate in the formulation of the legal norms—public and private—to which he is responsible." (emphasis added) Herriott v. City of Seattle, 81 Wn.2d 48, 61–62, 500 P.2d 101, 109–10 (1972).

Furthermore the required oath of office is meaningless, as administration of an oath to the constitution to an alien is exclusive to the federal government, 8 U.S.C. § 1448. Alien governance is inconsistent with this Court's opinion regarding whom may be involved with governance. Herriott. Upon naturalization, with open arms, they are welcome to govern; if not for this fact alone: "Do you know what percentage of immigrants pass the civics test their first try? 90 percent.", (emphasis added) Judge Don R. Willett, Flunking the Founding: Civic Illiteracy and the Rule of Law, Cato Sup. Ct. Rev. 13, 25 (2021); showing greater knowledge of civics than American high school students, which only 5 percent pass the same exam on the first attempt. (emphasis added) Id.

# **B. DUE PROCESS**

This state has a history of encroaching on its citizens federal and state rights of due process, <u>State v. Blake</u>, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021); Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct. 2054,

147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000); State v. A.L.R.H., 20 Wn. App. 2d 384, 500 P.3d 188 (2021); <u>In re Parentage of C.A.M.A.</u>, 154 Wn.2d 52, 109 P.3d 405 (2005); Andersen v. King Cnty., 158 Wn.2d 1, 138 P.3d 963 (2006), abrogated by Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 U.S. 644, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015), and with an apathetic electorate that exhibits "a deep misunderstanding of American self-government", Willett, *supra* at 20, will likely continue to encroach on the rights of its citizens. Fortunately, there are patriots aware of "the how" and "the why" for this nation's founding, cognizant that: "no state, since the adoption of the constitution, can, by naturalizing an alien, invest him with the rights and privileges secured to a citizen of a state under the federal government...". Boyd v. State of Nebraska, 143 U.S. 135, 160, 12 S. Ct. 375, 381, 36 L. Ed. 103 (1892). Prima facie, in direct conflict with Boyd, the state bestows political rights to aliens while negating the People's right of due process as "... the right to govern is reserved to citizens." Foley v. Connelie, 435 U.S. 291, 297, 98 S. Ct.

1067, 1071, 55 L. Ed. 2d 287 (1978). Due process is a fundamental principle and right of this nation, accorded to citizen and alien alike, however participation in and control of due process proceedings are exclusive to the citizen. "Between these alternatives there is no middle ground. The constitution is either a superior, paramount law, unchangeable by ordinary means, or it is on a level with ordinary legislative acts, and like other acts, is alterable when the legislature shall please to alter it." Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 177, 2 L. Ed. 60 (1803).

# V. ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES

Pecoraro requests, if determined to be prevailing party, reimbursement for expenses incurred in pursuing the claim and time for legal research for documents filed. RAP 14.2; RAP 18.1.

# VI. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, this Court should hold it is an exclusive right to be governed by citizens, which cannot be statutorily altered or removed.

This document contains 1,425 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.