FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/5/2023 3:07 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1020601

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEFFERY ARISTOTLE PECORARO,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

STATE'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SIERRA MCWILLIAMS, Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 48544 7141 Cleanwater Ln. SW P.O. Box 40109 Olympia, WA 98504-0109 360-586-5107 OID No. 91030

I. INTRODUCTION

The Washington Legislature acted within its authority to pass Substitute Senate Bill 5753 (SSB 5753), removing the statutory U.S. citizenship requirements for appointment to several state health care regulatory boards. S.S.B. 5753, 67th Leg., Reg. Sess. (2022). Petitioner challenged the Legislature's passage of SSB 5753 under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (UDJA), RCW 7.24, asserting that he had a constitutional right to be regulated only by U.S. citizens. This argument failed in superior court, as health care provider regulatory board members are not required under the Washington State Constitution to hold U.S. citizenship. Petitioner failed to establish he has a legal right to demand the Washington State Legislature impose a U.S. citizenship requirement for membership on state health care provider regulatory boards.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Petitioner's claims.

The petition for discretionary review (Petition) does not meet any of the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Review by this Court is unwarranted.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Washington State Legislature act within its authority by removing statutorily-imposed citizenship requirements for health care provider boards and commissions when there is no constitutional requirement that these appointees hold U.S. citizenship?

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Washington State, like all U.S. states, licenses and regulates the safe practice of health care providers. Wash. Const. art. XX, § 2. To this end, the Legislature statutorily created several health care provider boards and commissions to apply subject-matter expertise to the regulation of these professions. Petitioner, as a licensed nurse, is regulated by the Nursing Care Quality Assurance Commission (Nursing Commission), a 15-member board composed of nurses of varying levels of

education and licensure, as well as public members unconnected to the nursing profession. RCW 18.79.070. Each board member must meet minimum statutory requirements set by the Legislature, and then pass a vetting process by the Office of the Governor. *Id.* This diverse group of individuals makes consensus decisions on nursing discipline and licensure matters in compliance with the Uniform Disciplinary Act, RCW 18.130. By removing minimum requirements for appointment, the legislature enables the governor's office to select commission members from a larger pool of diverse individuals with relevant qualifications.

The Washington Legislature passed Department of Health-requested legislation, SSB 5753, in 2022, changing the member composition and compensation for several Washington health care provider regulatory boards and commissions. Additionally, the bill removed language requiring U.S. citizenship as a condition of appointment to eleven boards, commissions, and committees. This aligned these boards with

the several health care regulatory boards, commissions, and advisory committees that have never had statutory citizenship requirements.¹

Petitioner filed a complaint under the UDJA, requesting the Superior Court strike SSB 5753 in its entirety as a violation of article III, section 25 of the Washington Constitution. That section states that all "state officers" must be U.S. citizens. Defendant State of Washington moved to dismiss, noting that this Court has already held that the citizenship requirement for state officers in article III, section 25 "appl[ies] only to the elected 'state officers' named in Art. III, § 1," specifically governor, lieutenant governor, secretary of state, treasurer, auditor, attorney general, superintendent of public instruction,

¹ See, board membership requirements for Board of Naturopathy at RCW 18.36A.150; Board of Occupational Therapy at RCW 18.59.120; Board of Physical Therapy at RCW 18.74.020; Board of Hearing and Speech at RCW 18.35.150; Midwifery Advisory Committee at RCW 18.50.140.

and commissioner of public lands." State ex rel. Tattersall v. Yelle, 52 Wn.2d 856, 864, 329 P.2d 841 (1958).

The Pierce County Superior Court granted summary judgment to Defendant State of Washington, holding there is no constitutional requirement of U.S. citizenship for appointment to the regulatory boards and commissions named in SSB 5753.

Petitioner requested direct review by the Washington Supreme Court; this Court denied and transferred the petition to Division II of the Washington Court of Appeals. That court issued an unpublished opinion, affirming the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the State. The Court of Appeals held that the passage of SSB 5753 was an action within the Legislature's discretion, unrestrained by any existing constitutional requirements. *Pecoraro v. State*, No. 58058-6-II, 2023 WL 2493669, at *3 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 14, 2023). Petitioner moved for reconsideration of this opinion and to publish, which the Court of Appeals denied. Petitioner timely

petitions for discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court.

IV. ARGUMENT AGAINST DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

This Court accepts a petition for discretionary review only if one of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) is met. Petitioner offers no persuasive argument or legal authority justifying review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b) and review should be denied.

A. There is No Basis for Discretionary Review Under RAP 13.4(b)

The Washington Legislature has plenary authority to determine the content of state statutes unless a party can point to a constitutional prohibition against its policy decisions. *Washington State Farm Bureau Federation v. Gregoire*, 162 Wn.2d 284, 289, 174 P.3d 1142 (2007). The Legislature acted fully within that authority when setting requirements for appointment in the health professions statutes.

Petitioner alleges several grounds for discretionary review, but all fail. The decision below does not conflict with a

decision of the Supreme Court nor does it conflict with another Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). There are no unanswered significant questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Nor does the Petition involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. There is no inconsistency in Washington or federal case law on this issue

Petitioner fails to demonstrate the existence of conflicting decisions on this issue. Review on this basis should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Washington and federal cases uniformly reject a legal assumption that citizenship is required for all government positions, and instead hold that a state may only bar noncitizens from government-related employment if the government has a state interest in doing so that overcomes the non-citizens' equal protection guarantees. *Sugarman v. Dougall*, 413 U.S. 634, 646, 93 S. Ct. 2842, 2849, 37 L. Ed. 2d 853 (1973).

Petitioner relies primarily on dicta in *Foley v. Connelie* and *Herriott v. City of Seattle* to support his theory that he holds an unenumerated right to bar individuals without U.S. citizenship from governmental positions. As the Court of Appeals noted, "neither of these cases establish the broad political right Pecoraro claims." *Pecoraro* at *2.

The U.S. Supreme Court held in *Foley* that a government may impose a citizenship requirement for governmental positions (there, the police force) only if it can "justify its classification by a showing of some rational relationship between the interest sought to be protected and the limiting classification." *Foley v. Connelie*, 435 U.S. 291, 296, 98 S. Ct. 1067, 1070, 55 L. Ed. 2d 287 (1978). This Court held in *Herriott* that civil service positions subject to citizenship requirements did not "rise to the status of public office," thus the state was held to a strict scrutiny standard to prove the citizenship requirement supported a legitimate state interest. *Herriott v. City of Seattle*,

81 Wn.2d 48, 63, 500 P.2d 101, 110 (1972). As summarized by the Court of Appeals:

Neither *Foley* nor *Herriott* establish that citizenship is a requirement for non-elected positions that require the execution of basic functions of government or political rights. Similarly, neither case establishes that United States citizens have the exclusive right to be governed only by United States citizens. Instead, these cases establish that participation in the function of government or exercise of political rights can justify a citizenship requirement if the legislature chooses to impose one.

Pecoraro at *3. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and a Supreme Court decision on this issue, nor has Petitioner demonstrated a conflict between the decision by Division II of the Court of Appeals and another division. Therefore, there is no basis on which to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

2. The Petition does not raise any unanswered significant questions of Constitutional law

The Petition does not identify any unanswered significant questions of law under either the Washington or U.S. Constitutions and review on this basis should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(3). While Petitioner alleges the Court of Appeals

opinion "avoids constitutional issues raised," this is incorrect—the Court of Appeals held that Petitioner failed to articulate a constitutional right violated by SSB 5753. *Pecoraro* at *2.

The Petition cites generally to the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Petition at 10. Neither the plain wording of this amendment, nor any case law cited in the Petition establishes a due process right to be regulated solely by U.S. citizens. U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

Nor does the Washington Constitution provide this right. Petitioner's first-cited provision, Article I, section 30 of the Washington Constitution states, "The enumeration in this Constitution of certain rights shall not be construed to deny others retained by the people." Wash. Const. art. I, § 30. Petitioner's implication, that the right to be regulated only by U.S. citizens is "retained by the people" is found neither in the Washington Constitution, nor in case law.

The other provision cited in the Petition, Article I, section 32 provides, "A frequent recurrence to fundamental

principles is essential to the security of individual right and the perpetuity of free government." Wash. Const. art. I, § 32. This provision does not provide any substantive right, particularly not the right Petitioner alleges. *Brower v. State*, 137 Wn.2d 44, 69, 969 P.2d 42, 56 (1998).

SSB 5753 actually avoids a constitutional issue, rather than creating one as Petitioner claims. This is because a state may only discriminate against aliens when that government asserts a valid state interest in limiting a public office to holders of U.S. citizenship. Nielsen v. Washington State Bar Ass'n, 90 Wn.2d 818, 820, 585 P.2d 1191, 1192 (1978). The Legislature has clearly decided not to assert this interest for these regulatory roles. And no constitutional provision independently provides a right to be regulated only by United States' citizens, or a right for an individual to bar the appointment of a non-United States citizen to a governmental position.

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Petitioner's constitutional claims and no unanswered significant legal

questions remain to be examined. There is no basis on which to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. The Petition raises no issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court

Finally, Petitioner has not established his claims raise an issue of "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Petitioner's argument for this ground for discretionary review is inextricably tied to his failed constitutional argument, as he alleges "SSB 5753 and the opinion by COA-II violate fundamental constitutional rights and principles that outline the requirements of citizenship for serving in various public offices. . ." Petition at 2. Because Petitioner's constitutional argument fails, his "substantial public interest" argument fails as well. He alleges no additional basis for a substantial public interest other than personal disagreement with the Legislature's action in passing SSB 5753. There is no basis on which to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

This Petition does not identify a conflict between the Court

of Appeals decision below and Washington or federal case law,

or present unanswered significant questions of law or issues of

substantial public interest justifying discretionary review by this

Court. Therefore, review should be denied.

This document contains 1912 words, excluding the parts

of the document exempted from the word count by

RAP 18.17.